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STATE OF OKLAHOMA
DEPARTMENT OF SECURTTIES
THE FIRST NATIONAL CENTER

120 NORTH ROBINSON, SUITE 860
OKLAHOMA CITY, OKLAHOMA 73102

In the Matter of:

Geary Securities, Inc. fka Capital West Securitics, Inc.;
Keith D. Geary; Notman Frager; and CEMP, LLC,

Respondenits. ODS File No. 09-141

GEARY RESPONDENTS® OBJECTION AND RESPONSE TO
DEPARTMENT’S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY DECISION

Respondents Keith D. Geaty, Geary Seccutities, Ing. (formerly known as Capital West
Securities, Inc.), and CEMP, LLC (the “Geary Respondents”) respectfully submit the following
Response to the Department’s Motion for Partial Summary Degision (the “ODS Motion™),

L PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The. Depattment acknowledges and is well aware that its Motion for Partial Summaty.
Decision is the functional equivaieﬁt of a motion for partial summary judgment under Oklahoma
law, ODS Motion, pp. 28-29. Partial summary judgment is inappropriate and must be denied if
there is even the slightest siiggestion, inference or seintilla of a factual dispute on any issue. As
the. Departtment acknowledges, “fa]ll inferences and conclusions to be drawn from the
undisputed facts must be Viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the
motion,” and for summary judgment to be granted, it must be “perfecrly clear” that there are no
issues of material fact in the case. ODS Motion, p. 29 {citations omitted)(emphasis added).

The Department’s Motion seeks drastic relief — deprivation of the Geary Respondents”

right to a full, fair hearing on the merits. The Geary Respondents are entitled to the benefit of




“each and every inference or hint of a fact question in the context of the Department’s Motion.
The Department refuses to recognize and accept this fundamental legal principle.

The Department’s Motion demonstrates a troubling propensity and patiern of pre-judging
the Geary Respondents anid unilaterally resolvitig every inferefice or uncertainty in the manmer
most negative o the Geary Respondents, eéven when other, positive conclusions are much more
likely and logical. In short, rather than be content with presenting the evidence at the hearing on
the merits and allowing the Hearing Officet to render his decision on such evidence, the
Department appears to- be committed to achieving a pre-determined. result that the Geary
Respondents have violated the Act and miust be harshly punished. The Departiment’s approach is
inconsistent with the principles of due process and fundamental fairness.

The Department’s Motion seeks a partial summary decision that:

(1) Geaty Securities and Mr. Geary violated the Oklahoma Uniform Securities Act
(sometimes teferied to as “the Act”) and the Rules by making untrue statements of
material facts and omitiing to state material faets in connection with the offer; sale
and purchase of securities; and

(2)y CEMP, LLC violated the Act. ODS Motion, p. 54 (“Conclusion”).

The Department asks the Hearing Officer to enter the partial summary decisions listed:
above, then schedule and conduct a hearing to determine appiopriate discipline.

The Department’s Motion must be denied for the following reasons, all of which are
detailed below:

e The Deépartment’s Motion violates the Geary Respondents’ due procéss rghts;




o Construing all inferences and conclusions in the light most favorable to the Geary
Respondents, it is not “perfectly clear” that partial summary decision is warranted due to
the existence of disputed issues of material facts; and

e Discovery is ongoing and, therefore, the Departinent’s Motion is; at best, prematuie,

11. RESPONSE TO DEPARTMENT’S STATEMENT OF
UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS

The Department’s Motion presents one-hundred and twenty three (123) purported
statements of undisputed material facts that consume 28 pages. The sheer number alone strongly
suggests that many of the statements are ¢ither immaterial or disputed, or both.,! The Geary
Respondents respond as follows to each and every one of the Department’s 123 statements:

1-12; Department Fact Nos, 1-12 are immaterial in the context of the ODS Motion and,
therefore, disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part IV below..

13:  Disputed. In response to the Depaitment’s question (“Did you recommend the.
purchase of the private label CMOs by these four banks?”), Keith Geary responded, “Yes. [ sent
theiit informatior for them to decide.” (emphasis added) Geary went on 1o explain his work
with Oklahoma banks since the early 1990s in the context of a leveraged inyestment program.

See Geary Depo., p. 33, attached to ODS’ Appendix, Volume I, Tab 12. z

' The Department’s Motion acknowledges that the burden it must meet is “no genuine issue as,
to the mateérial facts raised by the substantive issnes.” Motion, p.1. The “substantive issues” in
this enforcement ‘action are the issues related 1o (1) the offer, sale and putchase of two segurities
by two invesfors (the “CEMP Claims™), and (2) the nef capital status of Geary Sceurities for less
than 3 business days in May 2009 and in parts of January-February 2010 (the “Net Capital
Claims™),

2 Rather than buiden the Hearing Officer with additional copies of the same depositions and
certain depositions referred to by the ODS in its Motion, Respondents will refer throughout this
brief to certain depositions and exhibits already inchuded in ODS’ Appendix t6 its Motion. Those

3




14:  Immmatesial -and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,
disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part IV below. In addition, Keith Geary became awate
of the prospect for ratings downgrades of private labe! collateralized mortgage obligations (“PL-
CMOs™) in April or May 2009, friggered by the FDIC’s release of FIL 20-2009 (the “FIL”).
Geary read the FIL and was concéined because a number of his bank customers, including BOU,
had previously purchased PL-CMOs.. Geary’s focus after reading the FIL was to develop a way
to respond to and negate the bank examiners’ potential criticism of thé PL-CMOs lield by his
bank customers, including BOU. Geary anticipated that the bank examiners would criticize the
PL-CMOs on the basis that there woiild likely be charge offs and waite downs, such that the
exaniiners would view the PL-CMOs as not being worth their full par value. Geary Depo., pp:
35-40, ODS App, Vol. I, Tab 12; Affidavit of Keith Geary, {f 4-6 attached hereto as Exhibit “1,
and expressly adopted and incorporated herein by reference,”

15:19:  Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,
disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part TV below: In addition:
a. Geary believed that he could satisfactorily address the examiners’ criticisms of the PL~

CMOs by adding a support tranche to add seciurity as a form of credit enhancemerit.

Geary referred to this concept as credit ephancement mottgage pool (“CEMP”) in. May

2009, Geary Depo., pp. 40-41. Geary’s CEMP concept included two classes, the A-1

and A2, The A-1 would be considéred a senior note that would receive all principal and

interest until paid off in full. The A-2 would be considered a.support class and would
own a 10 year Treasury strip that would mature at a certain value on a certain date.

When the matuity date is reached, if the A-1 is not already paid off in full, the A-2

depositions cites and exhibit references sct forth in this brief shall be deemed to be incorporated
hetein as if attached by Respondents as-an exhibit to their Response.

4




d.

proceeds would be used, in whole or-part, to pay off the remainder of the A-1, with the:

A-2 holder retaining thie balance of the A-2 proceeds. Geary Depo., p. 48; Geary AfT, 1%
4-6, Exhibit *1” hereto,

After the FIL was issued, Geary became aware that there ‘was ‘a lack of buyers for PL-
CMOs and that the PL-CMO prices were artificially low, despite Geary’s opinion that the
PL-CMOs had more value than that reflected by the prices then availablé. Geary Depo.,
pp. 38-40; Geary Aff,, § 5.

Geary’s CEMP concept is not unique, For example, since Geary created his CEMP
concept in May 2009, others — including the FDIC — have pursued similar ciedit
enhancement projects. For example, the FDIC undertook a credit enhancement project:
whereby: it resecuritized mortgages it acquired through a failed bank. Geary Depo., p. 98;
Geary Aff., 7 6.

At the time he created the CEMP concept in May 2009, Geary anticipated the opportunity
for resecuritization projécts utilizing PL-CMOs would exist as long as the PL-CMO
market remained disrupted in terms of prices and value. Geary Depo. pp. 43, 46; Geary
Aff, %6,

Geary’s CEMP concept consisted of two basic parts. First, it was necessary to acquire’
PL-CMOs to then be resecuritized. Second, it was nécessary to sell the resulting
securities — the A-1 and A-2 classes. Geary set out to acquire PL-CMOs for the CEMP
process from several of his bank customers that were interested in selling their PL-CMOs
due to the FIL. Geaty could have opted to acquire PL-CMOs from non-customers at
deeply discounted prices, or he could have offered deeply discounted prices to his bank

customers that held PL-CMOs. Geary did neither. Instead, Geary placed the interests of




his bank customers ahead of his own interests and did everything he could to avoid or
minimize the negative financial impact of the FIL on those customers. For example, in
the context of bidding on the purchase of PL-CMOs from his bank customers (including
BOU and Frontier State Bank), it was important to Geary to eliminate or minimize the
loss they would suffer on their sale of the PL-CMOs because these were long time
customers (20 yeai's or longer) that had trusted Geary’s recommendations, then were
suddenly being fold their securities were worth far less by sources Geary considered
inaccurate. According to Geary, “I wanted to protect my customer.” Geary Depo., pp.
110, 140-141; Geaty AfL,, § 6.

f. Once Geary had developed the basic CEMP concept, he retained counsel (Katten Muchin
firm in New Yoik) and submitted a list of securities to be resecuritized to the structuring
agent (Braver Stern) recommended by counsel. Geary Depo., p. 41.

20-22: Immaterial in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore, disputed. See:
Argument and Authorities, Part IV below.

23 Immaterial. and incomplete in. the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore;
disputed, See Argument and Authorities, Part IV below. In connection with the May 2009
acquisition of PL-CMOs from Frontier State Bank for the first CEMP offering, Geary
ackiiowledges that, with the benefit of hindsight, he naively assumed that the clearing firm
{Pershing) would hold the securities, while ¢harging interest, for the two to three weeks Geary
initially thought it would take to close the first offering. Geary’s naive assumption was partially
a product of his earlier experience where Pershing funded the firm's inventory on a bond deal.

Geary Depo., pp. 59-60.




24-46:  Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,
disputed. See Argument and Authorities; Part IV belbw.

47: The first-and third sentences of Fact No, 47 are undisputed, The second sentence
is disputed. In addition, Geary did nof make any material misrepresentations or omit to state any
material facts 1o BOU conceriiing the rating of the A-1 product. Geary Aff, § 10.Geary relayed
to BOU the information he received from Braver Stearn — that DBRS (the rating agency)
indicated it was “going to rate them AAA.” Geary Depo., p. 160. Geary was told that the CEMP
security was being rated AAA without any differentiation between principal and interest. Braver
Stearn never differentiated between principal and interest in its discussions with Geary, Geary
Depo., p. 160. Geary did not sec a version of the DBRS rating letter (dated September 28, 2009)
prior to September 28, 2009. As a result, Geary was unaware ‘prior to closing that the AAA
rating was. only applicable to principal and, therefore, he could not have omitted an aile'gediy
material fact that he was unaware of. Geary Depo., p. 162; Geary Aff,; 4 10.

48: The first sentence of Fact No. 48 is undisputed. The second sentence is disputed
as follows,

a. Geary did not make any tatetial misrepresentations or omit to state any material facts to
BOU of Headington conceriing their ability to sell the A-1 or A-2 for a profit: Geary Aff, §12.
The following exchange took place in Geary’s deposition:

Q. (by Ms, Bonnell): Did you ever represent to Mr. Headington that he: would
be able o sell the A-2s-and make a profit?” (emphasis added)

A. “I'm sure that [ discussed with John (Shelley) and Mike (Braun) that both
the A-1 and A-2s shoild be worth mote than the prices that they were being
paid for.” (emphasis added):

Geary Depo., p. 173.




The Department then followed up:
Q. “But did you indicate to them that they would be able to sell the A-1s and
A-2s at a profit?” (emphasis added) 7
A. “I'm sure that I had said as some point in time you shonld be able to sell
them for more than you paid. It just made sense given where the current
market was with.similar items.”
Geaty Depo., p: 173 (emphasis added).
b. Geary’s statement expressing his opinion on what the future values should be was
truthful. Geary AFE, 12, In addition, Geary did not make any material misrepresentations: or
omit to state any material facts to BOU concerning the existence or absence of another A-1 buyer
to induce BOU’s purchase. Geary Aff,, §9. Geary did not represent to BOU that it would only
have to hold the A-1 for a few days after it purchased the A-1, nor did he represent to BOU that
he had purchasers ready to purchase the A-1 at a higher price. Rathér, Geary expressed his
opimon fo. BOU that it should be possible to sell the A-1 once the market became aware of a
successful CEMP closing, Geary Aff, 99,12, In fesponse to BOU calling and asking whether
he had Tocated an A-1 buyer, Geary accurately and truthtully told BOU that he was working on
finding a buyer. Geary Depo,, pp. 158-159. Geary’s deposition testimony included the
following exchange:
Q. (by Ms. Bonnell): “Did you represent to-them in any forny or fashion that you
had a buyer for the A-1s prior to that point (September 23, 2009)7”
A, “1 told them F was working ou finding a buyer.”
Geary Depo., pp. 158-159 (emphasis added).
c. Geary’s response was true. Geary did and was working on finding other buyers. Geaiy’s
efforts to find other buyers included Frentier State Bank, Washita State Bank, a life insurance

company that was a customer of another Geary Securities’ broker, as well as repeatedly inquiring




of others in the industry (including Mesirow, Credit Suisse, ahd Braver Stearn). Geary Depo.,
pp. 148-151; Geary Aff., § 9.
d. The Department attempts fo mischaracterize a statement miade by Geary in an e-mail
(dated September 24, 2009) to Shelley and Braun concerning others being interested in the A-1
as a misrepresentation, Geary’s statement was “There is a dealet intercsted in the A-1s above
98.* This statement is not a mistepresentation. Geary showed the A-1 to Credit Suisse, Mesirow
and Braver Stearn. As Geary explainied, “T don’t know that 1 had anyone particular in niind. I
just knew I had what I thought were decent conversations.”™ Geary Depo., p. 169-170. The
follow up exchange was:

Q. “So how did. you. know that the dealers you had been speaking to weie

interested in A-1s above 9877

A, “I'was talking to them about bonds that they had and were offering and

comparing them to what the CEMP was in and the yield differénce. And so the

conversations were, well, four percent at 98, that’s a lot. better than 104 for three

fifty or a three perecnt coupon, sa we'lf take a ook at i, So I'thought they would

have interest because it had an attractive yield and a AAA rating,”
Geary Depo, p. 170 (emphasis added).
BOU officer Mike Braun admits that Geary told BOU he had dealers “interested” in
buying the A-1, but BOU assumed when Geary said “interested” he meant he had buyers
“comtmitted.” Braun Depo., pp. 66-67 (attached at ODS App., Vol I, Tab 13). There is
no basis for such an assumption,

49-50: Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore;
disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part I'V below.

51:  Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,

disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part IV below, See also, Fact No. 48 dbove.




52:  The first; third and fourth sentences of Fact No. 52 are undisputed, The second
sentence is disputed. See alse, additional material disputed facts presented in Fact No. 48 above,
which are expressly adopted and iricorporated herein by reference,

53 lmmaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,

disputed. See Argumient and Authorities, Part TV below, See also, additional material disputed.

facts presented in 48 above, which are expressly adopted and in_coz‘pora.ted herein by reference.
54 The first sentence of fact No, 54 is undisputed. The second Sentence is disputed.
See also, additional material disputed facts presented in 48 above, which are expressly adopted

and incorporated herein by reference.

55:  Disputed. See also, additional material disputed facts presented in 48 above,

which are ¢xpressly adopted and incorporated herein by reference.

56:  Disputed. See also, additional material disputed facts presented in 48 above,

which are expressly adopted and incorporated herein by reference.

57-58: Immatetial in the comtext of the ODS Motion and, therefore, disputed, See

Argument and Authorities, Part [V below.
59.  Disputed as follows:

a. Keith Geary sent an e-mail directly to Timothy Headington on September 16, 2009
concerning the CEMP products, A true and correct copy of that e-mail is Exhibit 20 to
Geary’s deposition (attached at ODS App., Vol 1, Tab 12),

b. Geary did not have any verbal communications with Headington concerning the CEMP
products. Geary Depo., p. 164-165.

¢, Prior to Headington’s decision to purchase the A-2, Michael Shelley (a broker at Geary

Securities and son of BOU Chairman John Shelley) had discussions with Headington’s
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business associate, Chris Martin, concerning the CEMP concept and products. Geary Depo.,
p. 165, Geary does not know what Michael Shelley told Martin concerning the CEMP
produicts, not does Geary know what information, if ‘any, Martin relayed to Headington
concerning the CEMP products. Geary Aff., ] 14.

d. Geary believed Headington would derive meaningfal benefits from purchasing the A-2.
Geary Depo., pp. 166-167.

e. Geary did not make any material migiepiesentations or omit to state any material facts

to' Headington concerning how long Headington would need to hold the A-2 if he decided to.

purchase it. Geaty Aff, § 11. Geary’s deposition testimony incladed the following

exchange:

Q. (by Ms: Bonnell): “Did you represent to Mr. Shelley and Mr.
Braun that Mr, Headington would only need hold the A-2s for 90
days or 507" |

A. *Yes. 1 had said that 7 wonld try to find a buyer for the A-2s
for Tim.”

Geary Depo., p. 168 (emphasis added),

Geary’s response must be read in context. In context, his answer “yes” is not the sum totat of his-
complete answer. In context, the substance of Geary’s response was that he told Shelley and
Braun that he would try to find a subsequent buyer for the A-2 in the event Mr. Headington
purchased the A-2. Geary’s statement to Shelley and Braun was true. Geary did, in fact, try to
find subsequent buyers for the A-2 but was unsuccessful, despite his good faith efforts: Geary

Aff, 711,12,

£, Geary did not make any material misrepresentations or omit to state any material facts to

BOU or Headington concerning their ability to sell the A-1 or A-2 fora profit. Geary Aff,, §

12. The following exchange took place in Geary’s deposition:

11
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Q. (by Ms, Bonnell): Did you ever represent to M. Headington that he would be
able to sell the A-2s and make a profit?” (emphasis added)

A, “I’m sure that I discussed -‘with John (Shelley) and Mike (Braun) that both the
A-1 and A-2s should be worth more than the prices that they were being paid
for.” (emphasis added) Geary Depo., p. 173. The Department then followed up:
Q. “But did you indicate to them that they wondd be able to sell the A-1s and A-
2s at a profit?” (emphasis added)

A. “I'm sure that I'had said as some point in time you should be able to sell them
for more than you paid. It just made senise given where the current market was
with similar items,”

Geary Depo., p: 173 (eraphasis added).

Geary’s statement expressing his opinfon on what the future values should be was frathful.
Geary Aff, § 12.

g. Geary did not make any materfal misrepresentations or omit to state any material facts to
Headington that he (Geary) would purchase the A-2 from Headington if he was unable to sell it
within 90 days. Geary Aff,, Y 13. The following exchanges took place in Geary’s deposition:

Q. (by Ms, Bonnell): “Do you recall {elling the board of directors that you would
be willing to pmchase the A-2s if Mr. Headington wasn't able fo sell them in 90
days?

A, No..

Q. Do you recall asking - do you recall a representation of that sort?

A. No.

Q. Can you — do you recall any communication that could be interpteted as you
saying that you would buy the A-2s if Mr. Headington was unable to sell them
within 90 days?

A. Before we broke, I think I had mentioned that T had talked to John and Mike
about the fact that a potential buyer could be the EYFs if they were successful and
gained significant assets under management. Apart from that, no.”

Geary Depo., p. 175 (emphasis added).

h. Geary did not issue any guarantee to Mr. Headington in connection with the A-2, The.

following exchanges took place on this topic;

12




Q. (by Ms, Bomell); “Do you recall in the telephone call with the Bank of Union
board of directors, Mr. John Shelley or Mike Braun asking you if you had
personally guaranteed a representation that you would buy the A-2s back from
Mr, Headington?

A. I don't recall. And if they asked that, Pm swre I would have replied that

broker dealers don’t guarantee.” Geary Depo., pp. 192-193.

Q. “At any point during your representations or your discussions with bank of

Union. did you tell them that they would only have to hold the A-1s for a-couple
of days because you had-another buyer lined up?

A. Ttold them that | oped that it would be able to be sold to someone else.”

Geary Depo., pp. 193+194 (emphasis added).

i

The Department’s attempt to rely on a curious document entitled “Guaranty Agreement”

[which was not prepared, presented or signed until after the CEMP securities were puichased by

BOU and Headington (Geary Depo. p. 188)] is misplaced:

Q. (by Ms. Bonnell): “Were you guaranteeing to Mr, Headington that the A-2s
could besold —
A. No.

Q. ~within 90 days?
A. No:

), Were you representing to Mr. Headington that you would purchase the A-2s if
they were not sold within 90 days?

A. No.

Q, Then what — are:you representing to Mr: Headington that you would pay him
approximately $12.8 million related to the class of the A-2?

AL Neo.

Q. What exactly is the purpose of this document?

A. ...Jt means nothing.” (p. 190)

Geary Depo., pp. 184-185; 190 Geary Aff,, 7 13,

60-61: Tmmaterial in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore, disputed.

Argument and Authorities, Part [V below.
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62-63: Disputed. Geary did not issue any guarantee to Mr. Headington in connection.
with the A-2. See discussion of disputed facts set forth in 59(h) above, which is expressly
adopted and incorporated hetein by reference.

64-69: Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the. ODS Motion and, thercfore,
disputed. See Argument and Authorifies, Part IV below. Geary did not make any matejial
misrepresentations or ‘omit to state any ﬁlaterial facts to BOU concerning the rating of the A-1
product, Geary Aff, § 10. Geary relayed to BOU the hlf;)rmaﬁon lic received from BraVe,r:.
Stearn — that DBRS (the rating agency) indicated 1f was “going to rate them AAA.™ Geai‘iy
Depo., p. 160. Geary was told that the CEMP security was being rated AAA without aity
differentiation between principal and interest. Braver Stearn never differentiated between
principal and interest in its discussions with Geary. Geary Depo., p. 160, Geary did not see a
version of the DBRS rating letier (dated September 28, 2009) prior to September 28, 2009, Asa
result, Geary was unawate prior to closing that the AAA rating was only applicable to prineipal
and, therefore, he could not have omitted an allegedly material fact that he was unaware of.
Geary Depo., p. 162; Geary Aff,, § 10,

70:  Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, thereéfore,
disputed. See Argument and Authovities, Part IV below.

71:  The first two sentences of fact No, 71 are materially incomplete and misleading
and, therefore, disputed. The third sentence is materially incomplete and, therefore, disputed.
The Depattment has failed to present any evidence that BOU and Headington have made any
attempt fo sell the A-1 and A-2 at any titne. The reason for the Department’s omission is simple.

The A-1 and A-2 have performed better than expected. Geary Aff,, §. 15.
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72 Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,
disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part TV below. The Department fails to disclose the.
fact that the referenced commission paid on the sale of the A-2 to My, Headington was paid to
Michael Shelley, son of BQU Chairman John Shelley, Geary AfL,  14.

73:  Immatetial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Maotion and, therefore,
disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part [V below.

74:  Department Fact No. 74 is materially incomplete and misl_eading'and, therefore,
disputed, Geary did not make any material misrepresenfations or omit to state-any material facts
in the form of the subject press release. The subject préss release was prepared in anticipation of
the first CEMP closing, which was originally scheduled for July 2009,

The following exchanges took place in Geary’s deposition coricerning the subject press
release:

Q. (by Ms. Bonnell): “So'you would agree that this press release ended up beirig

a false press release? 7 ) o

A. It’s not a false release. We did create it (the initial, larger version of CEMP

09-1). We just didn’t sell:and it didn’t close.

Q. So would you agree it’s an inaccurate press release?

A. No. At the time we had expected that we were closing 09-1 with 12 different

securities from six different sources, Everything in it is accurate as of that date,

And it didn’t close and it turned into something else,

Q. Would you agree that this press release creates the appearance that CEMP 09-

1 had actually closed.

A.No.”

Geary Depo., pp. 180-181.

75-77: Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion dnd, therefore,
disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part IV below. Geary did not make any material
niisteptesentations o omit to state any material facts in the subject press release or otherwise

concerning the rating of the A-1 product. Geary Aff, § 10. Geary relayed to BOU the
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information he received from Braver Stearn — that DBRS (the rating agency) indicated it was
“going to rate them AAA.” Geary Depo., p. 160, Geary was told that the CEMP security was
being rated AAA without any differentiation between principal and interest. Braver Stearn riever
differentiated between principal and interest in its discussions with Geary. Geary Depo.; p. 160.
Geary did not see a version of the DBRS rating letter (dated September 28, 2009) piior to
September 28, 2009, As aresult, Geary was unaware prior to closing that the AAA rating was
only applicable to principal and, therefore, he could not have omitted an allegedly material fact
that he was unaware-of, Geary Depo., p. 162; Geary Aff., ] 10.

78:  Disputed. The Department attempts to rely on Geary's September 25, 2009 e-
mail to McKean without considering the context of the commiunication. Before sending the
subject e-mail to Mckean, Geary had been advised earlier in the day that Mr. Headington would
be purchasing the A-2, Asa résult, In Geary’s mind the first CEMP project was “done.” Geary
further believed, in good faith, that the CEMP products would be well received by dealers in the
market as they became aware of a successful closing, Based on discussions Geary had with
dealeis to that point in time; he fully eéxpected the CEMP bonds to sell at par in the marketplace.
Geary Aff, §16:

79:  Immatérial in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore, disputed, See
Argument and Authorities, Part TV below.

80-847 Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,
.di'sfp't‘éte'd-‘ See Argument and Authorities, Part IV below, The Department attempts to aceuse the
Geary Respondents of wrongdoing in connection with their offer to purchase 4 bond from
Mesirow i1 connection with the attempted second CEMP closing in December 2009, As Geary

explained, Geary Securities agreed to purchase a bond from Mesirow for an agreed price on an
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agreed setilement date, which was Subséqu:enﬁy extended by agreement. Geary explained and
Mesirow understood that the subject bond was being purchased for the second CEMP offering:
and was predicated on closing taking place. When the extended settlement date came, Geary
Securities broke the trade because the second CEMP offering was not ready fo close. Geary
Depo., p. 204; Geary Aff,, § 18. Geary later went back to Mesitow and offered to buy the same
bond for a customer at a higher price, Mesirow agreed and the sale and purchase of the bond.
occurred to everyone's satisfaction. Geary Depo., p. 206; Geaty Aff.; § 13.

85:  The Geary Respondents ex_press'lj adopt and incorporate herein by reference
Respondent Frager’s response to Department fact No. 9 at page 7 [Part III(B)(1)] of Frager’s
Resporise. Additionally, with respect to all purported statements of fact cohcerning “Net Capital
Issues” (Department Fact Nos, 85-108), the Geary Respondents note that no depositions have yet
been taken concerniig the net capital issues and, therefore; consideration of the Depattinent’s
summary decision requests on the Net C'apiia_i Issues is- premature and should be denied or
deferred. See Part Il below,

86:  Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion. See Argument and
Authorities, Part IV below. 24, In connection with the May 2009 acquisition of PL-CMOs from.
Frontier State Bank for the first CEMP offering, Geary acknowledges that, with the benéfit of
hindsight, he naively assumed that the clearing firm (Pershing) would hold the securities, while:
charging interest, for the two to three weeks Geary initially thought it would take to close the
first offering. Geary’s naive assumption was partially a product of his eatlier experience whete

Pershing funded the firmi’s inventory on a bend deal. Geaty Depo., pp. 59-60.
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87-89: The: Geary Resporidents expressly adopt ‘and incorporate herein by reference
Respondent Frager's response {o Department Fact No. 22 at page 3 [Part III(A)1)] of Frager’s
Response.

90;  Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,
disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part IV below.

91-98: Lmmaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,
disputed. See Argwment and Authorities; Part IV below: In addition, the Geary Respondents
expressly adopt and incorporate herein by lreferenc‘e.. Respondent Frager’s response to
Department Fact No. 32 at page 3 [Part TII{B)(3)].

99: The Geary Respondents expressly adopt and iricorporate hetein by refererice

Respondent Frager’s response to Department Fact 30 at page 3 [Part LI(BXY3)L.

100-108: Tramaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and,
therefore, disputed. See Argument and Authotities, Part TV below.

109; The Geary Respondents expressly adopt and incorporate herein by reference.
Respondent Frager's Respoiise to the Department’s Motion against Frager, pp. 15-16.

110;  hwomaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,
disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part IV below,

111 D.isp_u_ted. In-connection with the alleged net capital deficiency in January-
February 2010, Mr. Geary made diligentefforts to avoid any deficiency and, in fact, believed he
had been suceessful;

Q. {by Ms. Bonnell): “Was the firm under net capital at any poirit during those

two or three weeks while you were working on the loan?

A, Tdor’t believe so, no.

FAk
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Q. At any point during February 2010 did you have-a discussion with anyone at
your firm regarding the need fo cease operations?

A. No. Didn’t think it was necessary. I'm told Thursday afternoon that it looks
as if I am going to have a net capital that I am below 300 and I cured if the next
morning, and when | knew the firm was making money from that point on. So-it
riever occurred to me that we had an issue.”

Geary Depo., pp. 201202,
112: The Geary Respondents expressly adopt and incorporate herein by reference

Respondent Frager’s Response, pp. 15-16.

113-114: Tringterial snd incomplete in the context of the ‘ODS Motion and,
therefore, disp_uted. See Argument and Authorities, Parts T .and II below.

115 The Geary Respondents expressly adopt and incorporate herein by reference

Respondent Frager's Respomse, pp. 15-16.

116: Immaterial and. incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and, therefore,.

disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part IV below:

117:  Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Meotion and, therefore,

disputed, See Argument and Authiorities, Part TV below. In conriection with the alleged net
capital deficiency in January-February 2010, Mr. Geary made diligent efforts to avoid-any
deficiency and, in fact, believed he had been suceesstul:

Q. {by Ms. Bonnell): “Was the firm under net capital af any point during those
two or (hree weeks while you were working on the loan?
A. T don’t believe so, no.

ek
Q. At any point during February 2010 did you have a discussion with anyone at
your firm regarding the need to cease operations?
A. No. Didn’t think it was necessary. I'm told Thursday afternoon that it looks
as if T am going to have a net capital that T am below 300.and I cured it the next
morning, and when I knew the firt was making money from that point en, Soit.
never occuried to me that we had an issue,”

Geary Depo., pp. 201-202.
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118-123: Immaterial and incomplete in the context of the ODS Motion and,

therefore, disputed. See Argument and Authorities, Part IV below. Geary did not charge an
excessive markup on the PL-CMO fransaction referenced by Department Fact Nos. 118-123.
Geary Aff, 117. As thé Department is aware, there is no hard-and-fast rule that prohibits a
markup in excess of 5%. Instead, there is a FINRA “policy” that references 5% and a general
FINRA rule that prohibits “excessive” markups. The markups charged by Geary Secutities were
a subject covered by the firm’s 2011 FINRA examination. CGeary Securities provided FINRA
with detailed explanation and support for the markups it charged on PL-CMO transactions.
FINRA has not taken any action against Geary Securities on thisissue. Geary Aff,, T17.

1. OBJECTION TO DEPARTMENT'S MOTION BASED ON
INCOMPLETE STATE OF DISCOVERY

This action has beett plagued by discovery disputes-and delays. The Geary Respondents
have encounteted significant discovery résistance from the Departinent and certain nou-parties,
The Geary Respondents have presented a number of discovery motions to. the Heatinig Officer
and a number remain pending at the time this Response is being prepared. Discovery that.

rethains to be conducted and completed ineludes the following:

Witness Location Issue(s)

David Paulukaitis Atlanta, GA CEMP, Net Capital (Department’s expert);
Timothy Headington Texas CEMP;

Chris Martin Texas CEMP (alleged to be a Headington agent);
Michael Shelley Oklahoma CEMP;

BOU Directors (6) Oklahoma CEMP;

John Pinto Washington, DC Net Capital {(Respondents’ expert):

Samuel Luque, Jr. Sdrasota; FL Net Capital (Respondents’ expert),

Okighoma summary judgment law and procedure: expressly recognizes that a summary
judgment request may be denied or deferred if discovery remains to be conducted at the time a

summary judgment motion is filed. See District Court Rule 13 (stating that if it appears from a
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party’s affidavit that additional depositions need to be taken or discovery had to respond to
summary judgment, trial court has discretion to deny summai';;f judgment without prejudice or
order a continuance until such discovery is completed), Per the affidavit of Keith Geary attached
hereto at Exhibit “1”, substantial additional discovery is.necessary in order for Respondents to
respond to the ODS® Motion, therefore the Hearing Officer should deny the Motion.

Significant discovery remains to be conducted and completed on the precise issues raised
by the Depastinent’s Motion. As the Hearing Officer is well aware, the Geary Respondents have
been severely hampered in their efforts to conduct discovery and cross-examine all witnesses in
this matter; Despite repeated efforts on their part, the Geary Respondents have beei tnable to
depose Mt. Timothy Headington, as well as certain directors of the Bank-of Union. The scope of
the Department’s Motion specifically encompasses issues and allegations concerning the Bank of
Unioi (“BOU™) and My, Headingtori. Without the oppoitunity through d_iSC(}yéi'_}‘f o obtain the
testimony- of these witnesses, the Geary Respondents are unable fo fully respond to the
Departimeiit’s allegations and have been desiied their right to cross-examine witnesses and/or to
present testimony in their defense:

Additionally, the Geary Respondents have moved to strike certain evidence and exhibits
as they relate to Mir. Headington on the grounds that Mr. Headington has refused to participate in
the discovery process. The Department relies upon Exhibit No. 19 in its Motion (Guaraiity
Agreement dated September 25, 2009), which is-an exhibit that is the subject of the Geary
Respondents’ preclusion motion which remains pending at the time this Response is being

prepared, -See Geaty Motion to Strike, filed herein on Noveniber 14, 2011.
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By submitting this Response; the Geary Respotidents do not waive or relinquish their
objection and position that the Hearing Officer should deny or defer ruling on the Department’s

Motion unfil discovery is completed.

1V.  ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

A, THE DEPARTMENT’S MOTION SEEKS TO VIOLATE THE GEARY
RESPONDENTS” DUE PROCESS RIGHTS IN THIS ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDING,

The Geary Respondents object to any ruling based on summary decision proceedings
because it would violate their rights to due process in this matter, Pursuant to the Oklahoma
Adminisirative Procedures Act and the Geary Respondents’ due process rights, thé Respondents’
aré entitled to-a hearing and the opportunity to present evidence and cross examine witnesses at
such hearing. 75 Okla.Stat. § 309 and 310; see-also Corporation Commission v. Oklahoma Siate
Peisoiiel Bd, 1973 OK. 94, 513 P.2d 116 (“the important point in the proceedings before the
Board was that each party be accorded a full and fair hearing on all points at issue™),

B. NUMEROUS MATERIAL QHESTXONS OF 4DI'SPUTED_ FACT EXIST THAT
DEFEAT THE DEPARTMENT’S REQUEST FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY
DECISION.

Eve if the Hearing Officer determines that, in principle, the sumithary decision procedure
is an appropriate procedure to utilize in these proceedings, the Department’s Motion should be
denied because numerous disputed issues of material fact exist,

“Sununary judgment is proper only when it appears that there is no substantial
controversy as to any material fact and one of the paities is entitled to judgment as a matter of |
law.” Seitsinger v. Dockumt Pontiac Inc, 1995 OK 29, 894 P:2d 1077, 1079 (emphasis added).

Summary judgments are not favored and should be granted pnly where it is perfectly clear there
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are no issues: of material fact in a case. Frwin v. Fruzier, 1989 OK 95, 786 P.2d 61, 62-63.

Furthermore, all inferences and conclusions to be drawn from the undisputed facts must be
viewed i the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. Northrip v. Montgomery
Ward & Co. 1974 OK 142, 529 P.2d 489, 497. 1f, under the evidence, reasonable persons would
reach differerit conclusions, simmary judgment is improper. Wittenberg v. Fidelity Bank, N.A.,

Okla., 1992 OK 165, § 2, 844 P.2d 155. Evidence of confroverted facts that preclude summary
judgment may be presented by the party opposing the motion, or shown to exist in imovant's own
evidentiary materials. Haines Pipeline Const, Inc. v. Exline Gas Systems, Inc; 1996 OK CIV

APP 75, 9 2, 921 P.2d 955. Where a mixed question of fact and law exists, but summary”
judgment is granted, the summaty judgment will be reversed. Oklahoma Dept. of Securities ex
rel. Faughtv. Blair, 2010 OK 16, §9 54-55, 231 P.3d 645, 669.-670.

As set forlli above in the foregoing Responses 1o ODS’s purported Statement of
Undisputed Facis, the Geary Respondents (as well as Mr. Frager in his own Response Brief)
have established numerous questions of dispited miatertal fact that preclude the entiy of
suinmary judgment in this matter,

Given the complexity of the issues: involved, the numerous factual disputes and issues,
and the incomplete state of discovery, the merits of this matter are: morg properly determined at-a.
hearing before the Hearing Officer,

C. MATERIAL QUESTIONS OF DISPUTED FACT EXIST THAT
PRECLUDE THE DEPARTMENT’S PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT
REQUEST BASED ON A PURPORTED VIOLATION OF 71 OKLA.STAT.
§ 1-501.

1. ODS Must Establish Negligence Tn Order te Prevail on A Violation of § 1-501

And Negligence Presents a Question of Fact That is Inappropriate for
Summary Judgnient.
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While there is no case law construing Oklahoma’s version of 71 Okla.Stat. § 1-501 and
determining whether or not scienter is required, the Depattment is-correct that the case of daromr
v. Securities and Exchange Conmission, 446 1.5, 680, 100 S.Ct. 1945 (1980) holds that scienter
is not an element of 4 violation of =S’ec’tiq'n"l’?'(z;_l}(Z)_ and (3) of Securities Act of 1933, which
prohibits any person from obtaining money or property by meéans of any unirue statement of
material fact or any omission to state a matetial fact. 71 Okla.Stat. § 1-501(2) — which the ODS
is proceeding under herein — has nearly identical language to Section 17(a)(2).}

However, to the extent the Department is ‘.suggesting that absolutely no allegation or
proof of any méfutal state-is required in order to establish a violation of 71 Okla.Stat. § 1-501,
this is incorrect. In order to establish a violation of 71 Okla.Stat. 1-501(2) the Department inust
gstablish -that the Geary Respondents acted negligently: SEC. v Shanahan, 646 F.3d 536,
341 ('8th Cir. 2011)(§ 17(a)(2) and (3).require proof that he acted negligently); S.E.C. v, Curshen,
372 Fed.Appx. 872, 877, 2010 WL 1444910, 4 (10™ Cir. 2010).

Under Oklahoma law, negligence is a question of fact that generally cannot be
deterinined upon a motion for summary judgment. Flanders v. Crane Co., 1984 OK 88, 693 P.24
602.

ODS has not alleged, much less established, that the Geary Respondents acted in 4
negligent matter with respect, o any purported misrepresentations or omissions, within the

meaning of § 1-501.

* I’?(a)(Z) of he Secutities Act of 1933 makes it unlawtul for any person in the offer or sale of
any secur lty to “obtain money or property by means of any untrue statement of material fact or
any omission to state a material fact. , . .” 71 Okla. Stat. 1-501(2) makes it unlawful for-a person
in connection with the offer, sale or _purchase of a security to *“make an unirue statement of
material Fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in ordet to make the stateinent made, in,
light of the tircunstances in which it is made, not misleading. .. .”
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2. Materiality is A Question of Fact that Precludes Summary Judgment,

For a-statement of omission to even be material, there must first be a duty to speak on the:
part of the alleged to have made the material misrepresentation or omission. See SEC.
Pasternak; 561, F.Supp.2d 459, 500 (DN.J. 2008). A broker-dealer does not owe a fiduciary:
duty to the customer where the customer is the-ultimate decision maker and controls the account:
Jd.. Respondents submit that BOU and other banking institutions are financial institutions that
clearly controlled there accounts, and Headington is likewise a sophisticated investor with
control of his account. At a minimum the duties owed to the purchasers by the various named
Respondents is a question of fact that precludes summary judgment,

Even if a duty was found on the part of the various Respondents, in order for a
mistépresentation of omission to be material in the context of 4 purpoited security violation, the
facts inisrepresented or omitted must be “material in the sense that a reasonable investor might
have considered them impoftant in the making of this decision.” Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah
v. United States; 406 U.S. 18, 153154, 92 S.Ct. 1456, 1472. More specifieally, “there must bea.
substantial likeliliood that the disclosure of the omitted fact would have heen viewed by the
reasonable investor as having significantly altered the ‘total mix’ of inforfmation made
available.” TSC Indusiries, Inc. v. Northway; Inc, 426 U.S. 438, 449, 96 S.Ct. 2126, 48 [.Ed.2d
757 (1976). “It is not enough that a statement is false or incomplete, if the mistepresented fact is.
otherwise insignificant.” Basie Inc. v, Levinson, 485 1.8, 224, 238, 108 S.Ci. 978, 99 L.Ed.2d
194 (1988).

Both the materiality and misleading natiwe of a statement or omission are usually
questions for the trier of fact: See Fecht v. Price Co., 70 F3d 1078, 1081 (9th Cir:1995)

(“[Whether a public statement is misleading, or whether adverse facts were adequately diselosed
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is a mixed question to be decided by the trier of fact.”); TSC hdustries, hic. v. Northway, Inc..,
426 U.S. 438, 450, 96 S,Ct. 2126, 48 L,Ed.2d 757 (1976)) (“Whether an omission is ‘material’ is
a determination that ‘requires. delicate assessments of 'ﬂle inferences a ‘reasonable shareholder’
would draw from a given set of facts and the significance of those inferences to him, and these
assessments are peculiatly ones for the trier of fact.' *). “Theiefore, only if the adequacy of the
disclosure or the materiality of the statement is'so obvious that reasonable minds could not ditfer
aie these issués appropriately resolved as a mattet of liw.” Fecht, 70 F.3d at 1081 (quotations
and citations omiited),
The Hearing Officer is not sitting as the “trier of fact” when addressing and disposing of
‘the Department’s Motion. Rather, the Hearing Officer only sifs and acts as the trier of fact at the
hearing on the merits, at which time he hears all the evidence, in context, and evaluates its
weight and credibility. The Hearing Officer’s role in connection with the Department’s Motion
is Himited 1o a determination whether there is any issue of disputed material fact — construing all.
inferences in favor of the Geary Respondents —~and ruling on that issue alotie as a matter of law.
3. There Are Disputed Questions of Material Fact Regarding Purported
“Misrepresentations” an “Omissions” Which Preclude Sumimary Judgment,
The Départinent has attempted to allege four (4) separate “material” statements that it
contends were made in violation of § 1-501. However, each of the four (4) allegations has been
dispttied by the Respondents and, therefore, the Department’s summary judgment request must
be denied.
e Disputed Allegations Regarding the Existence of Another Buycer — As st forth above
in Paragiaph SI, and in. the Geary Affidavit (] 9), Geary did not make any material

misrepreséntations or omissiofis regarding the existenee of another buyer in order to induce
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BOU’s purchase, Rather, in iesponse to a question from BOU regarding another buyer, Geary
informed BOU he was working on locating a buyer. Geary showed the A-1 to numerous other
pétehtial buyers and felt he had promising conversations with the proposed buyers, According
to Geary, his statement was trve because he was actively looking for buyers and, based on what
he knew and believed in good faith at the time, he believed the candidates weré interested in
buying the A-1. Geary Aff, 478, 9. At a minimum, Geary’s testimony creates an issue of fact
that defeats summary judgment.

. Disputed Allegations Regarding “Sizeable Unrealized Gain” and “Sell at Any Time”
— Mr. Geary’s deposition clearly states that Mr, Geary only represented that the securitics
“should be woith more than they were being paid for.” Mr. Geary did not testify he told any”
party they “would” be able to make unrealized gains. See ¥ 47 herein,

e Disputed Allegations Regarding BOU’s Prdaspective Ability to Resell the A-1 within.
2-3 Days and at a Profit — Geary denies that he told BOU that it would only have to hold the A-
1 for a few days after it purchased the A-1, See Geary Atfidavit, 948, 9, 12. Geary expressed his
horiest, gaod faith opinion, based on what he khew and believed at the fime, that an owner of the
A-1 or A-2 should be able to sell either product for more than they paid. Geary A, §12. Ata
maininium, Geary's testimony creates an issue of fact that defeats summary judgment.

e Disputed Allegations That Headington Could Sell Within 90 Days — Geary denies that:
he told Mr. Headington that he would be able to sell the Notes in 90 days. or that Geary would
repurchase the A-2 from Headiiigton within 90 days. See § 51 above, Geary did not make any
misrepresentations or ommissions to Headington concérning how long hie would have to hold the
A-Z. Geary Aff, 4 11. After Headington purchased the A-2; Geary did attempt to locate a

subsequent purchaser. Geary has stated clearly, with detailed explanation, that he did not

27




represent to Headington that he (Geary) would repuichase the A-2 from Headington if it was not.
resold within 90 days. Geary AfE, 713 At a minimum, Geary's testimony creates an issue of’
fact that defeats'sunumary judgment.

All four of these alleged “misrepresentations” have been disputed and, therefore, the
Department’s Motion must be denied.

Likewise, the Department attempts to set forth twe (2) purported “omissions” that it
contenids were material and made in order to induce a sale. Again, both of these omissions have
been disputed, such that summary judgment is inappropriate:

e Disputed Allegations Concerning Omissions of Secondary Market Problems — As set-
forth above, theie are disputed facts that exist regarding this allegation, Mr, Geary testified he
informed BOU. that, based on what he knew and believed in good faith at the time, there
“shiould” be ah opportunity to re-sell the A-1 and A-2 sccuritics. Geary Aff, § 12. Ata
minimumy Gesry's testimony creates an issue of fact that defeats surimary judgment,

¢ Disputed Allegations Concerning Oniission of Limitation of AAA Fating - The:
Departmeént contends the Geary Respondents made material misrepresentations or. omissions
regarding the AAA rating; namely, by not-disclosing to BOU that the A-1 was AAA rated as to-
principal only. However, as set forth above in § 69, Mr. Geary was informed that the CEMP
secutity was AAA rated and there was no distinction made between principal and interest
ratings, As a result, evén Mr. Geary was unaware before closing that the AAA rating was only
applicable fo the principal. Moreover, Mr. Geary did not represent to BOU that the A-1 was
AAA rated as to principal and interest. Geary Aff, § 10, At a minimum, Geary’s testimony

creates an issug of fact that defeats summary judgment.
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4. The Misrepresentations 'a_nti Omissions Alleged by the Department are
Immaterial as a Matter of Law,

Regardless of the existénce of disputed material facts, the Department’s Motion fails for a
separate. and independent reason - the purported misrepresentations and omissions were not
material, as a matter of law, because no reasonable investor would consider them important,
giveti their vagueriess and the fact that they cleatly represent opinions of the person (Mr. Geary)
making the statements.

In applying the materiality clement, cowrts have identified several categories of
statements- that, as a- matter of law, are not considered materially misleading in the context of
securifies violations. Relevant to the case at hand are “[s]tatéments classified as ‘corporate
optimism’ or “mere puffing’ "—“typically forward-looking statements; or .. generalized.
statements of optimism that are not capable of objective verification.” Grossmai v. Novell, Inc.,
120 F3d 1112, 1119 (10th Cir.1997)(emphasis added). Examples of puffery include: the
company “ ‘is poised to carry the growth and success of 1991 well into the future’;™
‘significant sales gains should be seen as the year progresses’; ™ the approaching year will ©
‘produce excellent results [for the company]’; ” and the company will “maintain a "high’ level of
growth.” Grossman, 120 F.3d at 111920 (collecting cases).

Courts have considered and applied the view that statements of corporate optimism are
immaterial as 4 matter of law in enforcement cases. See e.g,, S.E.C. v. Curshen, 372 FedkAppx.
872, 879, 2010 WL. 1444910, 5 (10" Cir. 2010),

Cireuit courts “ *have demonstrated a willingriess to find immaterial as a matter of law a
certain kind of rosy affinmation commonly heard from corporate managers and nunibingly

familiar to the marketplace—loosely optimistic stalements that are so vague, so lacking in.
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specificity, or so clearly constituting the opinions of the speaker, that no reasonable investor
could find them iimportant to the total mix of information available.’ ”* I re Ford Motor Co. See.
Litig., 381 E.3d 563, 570-71.

Keith Geary's alleged statements are exactly the type of vague opinions, mere puifing
and cotpotate optimism that the law says cannot be considered “material.” For example, Mr.
Geary’s good faith statement that “an owner of the A-1 and A-2 should be able to sell either
product for more than they paid® (Geary Afl, Y 12) is a forward-looking, loosely optimistic
statemént that the courts have rejected as actionable as a matter of law. This type of statement is
vastly different than where brokers have made material mistepresentations “guaranteeing” a
specific rate of returm. See eg, SEC v Randy, 38 F.Supp2d 657, 669 (N.D; L
1999)(defendant *guaranteed” CD’s would pay 14% annual interest and this was found by court’
to be a material misrepresentation).

D. SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE ALLEGED NET CAPITAL VIOLATIONS
SHOULD BE DENIED.

At Section III of its Motion the Department contends that Respondent Geary Securities
continued operating its securities business while it mainfained less net capital than required by 17
C.F.R. § 240,15C3-1 for two short periods of time, ODS contends these actions were in violation
of Oklahoma Rule 66:11-5<17.

The Respondents adopt and incorporate the section of Frager’s Response to the ODS’
Motion for Summary Decision filed in {his matter on November 30, 2011 at page 2 which sets
forth and establishes that the responsibility for calculating net capital and for oversceing net
capital computatiotis and reporting by broker dealers is the responsibility of FINRA. See Frager

Response Brief at P. 2. As set forth therein, FINRA is currently invelved in-evaluating the net

30




.

capital issues involved in this matter in a separate action brought by FINRA involving the same.
transactions,

Granting the: Department’s summary judgment request in this matter could have the
impact of resulting in conflicting decisions, which could in effect be an imposition of stricter
standards by the Departmient than those requited by FINRA and federal statutes. The
Department’s ability to make findings of fact with respect to capital requirements and reporting
obligations that differ froni 4ny findings which might be made by FINRA would be preempted
by fedetal law. See Section 15(h)(1) of the 'Secﬁiri'tiesi Exchange Act of 1934, 15 US.C. 78 a et
seq., which states that no law, rule, regulation, order or administrative action of any State shall
establish capital requirements that differ from or are in addition fo the requirements established
the 1934 Act.

As set forth above, the Geary Respondents also object to the Department’s sunimary
judgment request on the net capital issues because discovery at thistime has not been completed.
As indicated by Mr. Frager’s Response-,_ he has retained an expert withess who will testity
regarding the net capital deficiency allegations in this matter. See Frager Response, p. 4.

Additionally, disputed questions of fact exist that preclude suminary judgment on the net
capital issues, See Disputed Fact Nos. 85, 111, 117. Moreover, per Mr. Frager’s Response, M.
Frager likewise dispuies numerous guesiions of fact raised by the Department, which also
prectude summary judgment in this matter, See Frager’s Response.

For sll of these reasons, the Department’s summary judgment request on the purported
net capital violations should be denied or, alternatively, deferred until discovery is completed on

the net capital issues.
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E. GEARY SECURITIES DID NOT ENGAGE UNETHICAL PRACTICIES IN
VIOLATION OF RULE 660:11-5-42; ALTERNATIVELY, QUESTIONS OF
FACT EXIST WHICH PRECLUDE SUMMARY JUDGMENT. -

1. Summary Judgment under Rule 660:11-5-42 for Violations of FINRA
Regulations is not Appropriate because it Deprives the Geary Respondents of
Fair Notice of Contents of ODS Rules and because ODS is Exceeding its
Authority.
660+11-5-42 is entitled “Standards of Ethical Practices for Broker-Dealers and Their
Agents” and sets forth the standards to be followed by broker-dealers operating in Oklahoma.

The Rule specifically recognizes that “the standards shall be interpreted in such a manmner as will

aid in effectuating the policy and provisions of the [Oklahoma] Securities Act. (emphasis

_ * See also Comments to 12A Okla. Stat. § 8-509, which clearly indicate that Oklahoma views:
the NASD iules to be separate and enforceable by the NASD/FINRA, and not the ODS.

The SEC has adopted detailed rules of conduct for brokers and.
dealers and has stalutory authority fo levy sanctions for non-
compliance, For example, broker-dealers registered under the:
fedéral law are subject to detailed regulation concerning the
safepuarding of customer securities, See 17 C.F.R. § 240.15¢3-3
(1995). In_ addition, the NASD and the stock exchanges have
detailed rules of conduct for member brokers and dealers, For
example, the NASD requires members to have “regsonable.
prounds for believing” that a recommended security is “suitable”
for a eustomer. See NASD Rules of Fair Practice, art, I, sec, 2,

NASD Manual (CCH) 9§ 2152. For the New York Stock
Exchange's Rules, for example, see generally the New York Stock
Exchatige Guide (CCH).

Section 28 of the 1934 Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78bb, specifically provides
that the Act dees not affect the jurisdiction of any state securities
commiission to enforee non-conflicting state law. In Oklahoina,
brokers and dealers aie subject to the registration requirements and
the rules of conduct of the Oklahoma Securities Act, 71 Okla. Stat.
§§ 1-17, 101-103, 201-204, 301-307, 401-413, 501, 701-703
(1994), and the Rules of the Oklahoma Securities Commission,
Okla, Admin. Code tit. 660, ch. 10, subch. 5.
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added). Despite’ this express language in the opening Paragraph of the Rule which limits the
Rule’s application fo violations of the Oklahoma Securities Act, the Department instead bases.
the majority of its claiins against the Geary Respondents under this Rule: for violations of
FINRA/NASD rules. The Department ignores the clear language of the Rule indicating the
purpose of the Rule is to enforce Oklahoma’s Security Act, and instead asserts that Rules
promulgated by FINRA/NASD are relevant in Oklahoma’s regulatory scheme. In, other words,
the Department is alleging because Geary Securities violated FINRA rules {which is disputed
and dcnied),:tbe-Department hag the authority to punish Geary Securities under Oklahoma’s Rule
660:11-5-42. If the Legislatwre and ODS had wanted the FINRA rules fo be a part of the:
Oklahoma Securities Act of 2004 and/or the ODS Rules, théy could have ezsily adopted the
same, but they did not, >
Allowing the Deparfiment to pursue the Geary Respondents for alleged violation of
FINRA Rules is simply incorrect and would be a complete violation of the separate regulatory
schemes of state and federal authorities, as well as a delegation of the ODS’ rulé making.
authority. A near identical issue was addressed in Rincover v. State, Dept. of Finance, Securities’
Bureai, 866’ P,2d 177, 180 (Idaho 1993).
In that case; Rincover was 4 registered broker who et his fegistraﬁon lapse in response to an
investigation being. conducted by the Idaho state regulator into transactions with two of his

clients. A year later he applied to the Idaho state regulator to again become a registered

Jid. (emphasis added),

$ {tisronic that the Department went to great lengths in opposing the Respondents’ motions to
bifurcate and stay the net eapital claims to adamantly assert its separateness and independence
from FINRA, rejecting any suggestion that it should defer in any way to FINRA. However,
when it suits the Depattment’s agenda — such as its determination to destroy these Respondents —
it does not hesitate to embrace FINRA and its rules.

33




salesperson, but his application was deénied pursuant to a Rule denying registration fo any
applicant “engaged in dishonest or unethical practices in the securities: bysiness.” The hearinng
officer in the Rincover case affirmed the denial of registration, finding that the broker had
violated the NWASD’s tule of “observing 'high standards of conimercial honor and just -and
equitable principals of trade; On-appeal, the District Court reversed the heating officer, stating:

Neither the broker-dealer compliance manual nor the NASD
rules have the standing of rules and regulations of the
department, To allow the department to apply the standards
contained in the compliance manual and the NASD r1ules to
Rincover's actions without having previously adopted the standards
in its rules and regulations would allow the department, in effect,
to delegate its rule-making authorify after the fact, This would
be contrary to the framework contained in Tumea and H & V for
applying statutory standards consﬁtunonaliy It would open fhe
door to the application by agencies of standards not contained in
the statutes or the rules and regulations of the agency. This would
undermine. the requirement of definite warnings that is the
fundamental premise of the concept of unconstitufional
vagueness.

Id, at 180 {(emphasis added):
The Departinent clearly hds the authority fo create and adopt rules governing the conduct
of brokers. The Department could, but has not, adopted in their entirety all the rales of FINRAL 6
2. Even if the ODS Could Pursue Geary for FINRA Violations, ODS’ Claims
Fail Because ODS Has Not Established Bad Faith..
As set forth above, the Department cannot pursue the Geary Respondents for vielations

of FINRA rules. Fven if the Departient could pursue the Geary Respondents, the Department’s

6 The {ieary Respondents anticipate the Depattment will argue that (b)(1) of Rule 660:11-5-41
gwes the Department autherity to putsue brokers for violations of NASD/FINRA, rules, as this
provision provides that broker-dealers and their agents should not violate federal statugs or rules
of any national securitics association. However, this is so vague and general as to be
unconstitutional and doés not pwvxde the Gedry Respondents with sufficient notice of the type of
conduct that will subject ther to discipline.
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claims fail because it has not alleged or established bad faith on the part of the Geary
Respondents. The Department contends that SEC or NASD rule viclations do not require
scienter. See ODS” brief at p. 41. However, theré is no such ¢ase law under Oklahoma’s rules.
Moreover, federal authority consiruing NASD Rule 2110 on unethical conduct states that a
finding of bad faithi is not required “when the predicate for violating Rule 2110 is the violation of
another NASD or Exchangé Act iule.” dvello v. SEC., 454 F.3d 619, 627 (7™ Cir. 2006). It
stands to reason that if the Department is allowed to pursue a-violation of its Rule 660;11-5-42, it
must establish as a predicate to thisRule that the Geary Respondents violated ariother ODS Rule,
However, the Department’s allegations regarding violation of 660:11-5-42: relate only fo
violations of SEC and NASD Rules, which would not be enough under the federal authority the
Department atfempts to rely upon. In other words, 4 violation of 660:11-5-42 alone i3 fiof enough
to do away ‘with the requirement that the Department allege and prove some sort of scienter-or
bad faith on the part of the Geary Respondents.

3. The Geary Respondents Did Not Attempt to Conceal any Purported Net

Capital Deficiency by Filing an Inaccurate Focus Report or Timely Notices:’

As set forth in. Part IV(D) above, regarding the Department’s allegations of net capital
violations, there are humerous questions of fact that exist that preclude the granting of summary
judgment on any net capital violation issues. Additionally, Respondents would refer the Hearing
Officer to p. 8 of Mr. Frager’s tesponse fo the ODS’ Motion for Summary Decision which
refutes those putported facts set forth by the ODS in its “Undisputed” Fact Section. See ODS’
Undisputed Facts at Paragraphs 100-103, which are similar to the “Undisputed” Facts set forth in

Paragiaphs 30-39 of the Frager Motion for Summary Disposition.

7 The Geary Respondents have combined their responses o ODS’ argument in its-Sections 7 and
‘7 into oue section.
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Also, as noted by the Department, FINRA did not notify the Geary Respondents of any
alleged net capital deficiency until more than 5 months after the events occurred, See
Department ’s Motion, p, 43,

The Department’s Motion inaccurately implies that the Geary Respondents participated
in a schemé in filing its notices for January and February 2010 net capital violations to “create an
appearance”™ that it had been undercapitalized during the prior peried of time specified, but was
currently in compliance at the time the notices were filed. The Department’s allegations clearly
are not facts, but pure conjecture attempting to imply some sort of fraudulent scheme to escape
its reporting requirements. The Geary Respondents dispute these allegations, such that material
quesfions of fact exist which preclude summary judgment, ®

4. Geary Securities Did Not Violate any Rule against Txcessive _Mairk-ﬂps and,

Therefore, Disputed Questions of Material Fact Exist and Defeat Summary

Judgment.

ODS contends that a mark-up of 5% on a bond sale is acceptable in only the most
exceptional cases and that any mark-up in excess of this amount is generally considered to be
excessive, citing to NASD IM-2440-1. However; the Department conveniently fails to- cite to the:
opening sentence of NASD IM-2440-1 which provides:

The: question of fair mark-ups or spreads is one which has been
rajsed fromi the eailiest days of the Association. No definitive
answer can be given and o interpretation can be all-inclusive:
for the obvious reason that what might be considered fair in

one transaction could be unfair in another transaction bhecaunse
of different circumstances

* &R

1y The "5% Policy" is a guide, not a rule.

8 Mr. Geary hias provided testimony that he miade diligent efforts to avoid arty net capital
deficiency and, in fact, believed he had been successful. See Part 11, % 111 above, At a
minimum, this testimony creates a disputed fact issue that defeats summary judgtiient.
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See NASD IM-2440-1 attached to ODS App. Vol. 11T at Tab 41(emphasis added).

A markup “is excessive ‘when it bears no reasonable relation to the prevailing market
price.” ™ Grandon v. Mervill Lynch & Co., 147 F.3d 184, 190 (2d Cir.1998), Determining
whether a mark-up Is excessive will vary factually on & case by case basis, decord Press v.
Chemical Fvesiment Services, Corp. 166 F.3d 529 (2™ Cir, 1999)(“What is exeessive on one
transaction, might be on anothier, thus all fictors must be considered. To say that a s;peciﬁc range
of mark-ups is acceptable for a given line of financial produet is to paint with a dangerously
broad brush. A teni percent markup on a T-bill might be virtually always excessive, A ten percent
nyark-up on an instrument that is difficult to obtain and priced accordingly might not be™)

As a result, a fact finder determining whether a markup is excessive must ¢onduct a fact-
sensitive inquiry. Grandon, supra, 147 F3d at 190. A fact-finder, thus, must consider various.
factors, such as: industry practice; nature of services provided; cost of transaction; expertise of
bioker-dealer; type and availability of seciirity in the market; market conditions; and overall risk
undertaken by the broker-dealer. Jd'; see also Press, supra; 166 F.3d at 535; Cremi’ v. Brown
955 F.Supp. 499, 520 (D.Md.,1997)(holding “this Court, without any evidence of the facts of
that transaction, the complexity or difficulty of it; the amount of work performed by the brokers
in connection with it, ctc., is not able to detefmine that it is excessive” and listing seven Tactors
analyzed to determine reasonableness of markup). Again, the Hearing Officer in thig case 18 not
sitfing as the “fact finder” when he addresses and disposes of ‘the Department’s Motion. The
Hearing Officer only occupies the fole of fact finder at the hearing on the merits.

Here, the ODS has made no effort to establish any facts regarding the prevailing market price

for the subject trades or any othef comparisons to show that the mark-ups were excessive, in
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light of the industry practice, availability and nature of the securities, market conditions and over
all risk being taken by the broker-dealer. Therefore, their claims fail. S.EC. v. Pasfernak, 561
F.Supp.2d 459, 500 (D.N.J.,2008)(finding SEC failed to present sufficient evidence showing
mark-up was excessive and granting partial summary judgment to the broker).

The facts are clearly disputed on the issue of whether an excessive markup was charged and,
therefore, summary judgment should be denied. Geary denies, with detailed explanation, that he
charged an excessive markup 6n the PL-CMO transaction referenced by Department Fact Nos.
118-123. Geary Aff,, 17, Ata minimum, Geary’s testimony creates a dispute issue of fact and
defeats summary judgment.

5. Disputed Questions of Fact Exist regarding the Allegedly False Press
Release:

The Départment contends that Mr, Geaiy éngaged inn an unsthical practice by directing the
issyance of a press release to generate interest in the CEMP process and that the release was
false, in violation of Rule 660-11-5-42 (b)(1)(failure to observe high standards of commercial
honor). Disputed questions of fact exist which preclude summary judgment on the issues related
to the press release. Geary denies that the press release was issued at the time Respondents
expected the closing: “ef {09-1 and denies the release creates an appearance that the CEMP 09-1
-was actually closed.. See part 11, § 74 above. At a minimum, Geary’s testimony creates a dispute:
issue of fact and defeats summary judgment.

6. Purported Violation of Rule 660:11-5-42 (b)(6) Relating to Offers to Buy
Securities:
The Department confends that Mr. Geary violated Rule 660:11-5-42(b)(6), which

provides that “Ne broker-dealer or agent of a broker-dealer” shall make an offer fo buy from or
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sell to any person any security at a stated price unless such broker-dealer or agent is prepared to

‘puarchase ot sell , . . at such price and under such conditions as are stated at the time of such offer

to buy.”

ODS has not defined or provided any authority defining what the Rule means by
“prepared to purchase™ or “at such price and under such conditions s siated at the time of such
offer”. Therefore, the Rule is inipermissibly and unconstitutionally vague so as to leave the
Geary Respondents without notice as fo what this rule means..

A fair, common sense réading of the Rule would indicate the Rule was meant to apply in.
those situations where a transaction was mever closed. That is simply not the case with the
transactions the Department relies on. All of the transactions were eventually closed. See ODS’
Undisputed Faet No. 13,

With respect to the Department’s allegations regarding Mesitow, the Departiment has |
woefully misstated the facts with respect to that transaction. See Part 11, 1§80-84 above. The
bond purchase from Mesirow was eventually consummated. In fact, Geary purchased the same
bond from Mesirow at a higher price than original agieed, and Mesirow was satisfied. 7d.

For all these reasons, the Departraent’s request for summary judgment regarding Rule
660:1 1-5-42(b)(6) should be denied.

F MATERIAL QUESTIONS OF DISPUTED FACT EXIST REGARDING
WHETHER. CEMP LLC IS AN UNREGISTERED BROKER-DEALER IN
VIOLATION OF §1-461 OF THE OUSA.

The Departihent contends that CEMP LLC is a “broker-dealer” within the meaning of 1-
401 because CEMP LLC was “engaged in the business of effecting transactions.” However,
Oklahoma case law holds: that “’engaged in the business™ means the performance of acts which

oceupy the time, attention, and labor of persons for the purpose of livelihood, profit, or pleasure.
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This definition also emphasizes a certain regularity of activity .. .” Musson v. Rice, 1987 OK 66,
739 P.2d 1004.

In. the instant matter, CEMP LLC never sold any securities to any investor. See
Department Motion at p. 51. CEMP, LLC was essentially created as the settlor or depositor of
one or more trusts that were to be formed. CEMP LLC purchased the PL-CMO’s-irom the banks,
but then sold the PL-CMO's only to Geary Securities,

Finally, the subject CEMP securities are exempt from registration, pursuant to Regulation
D and National Securities. Market Act of 1997.° As a result, CEMP LLC cannot be considered a
broker-dealer effecting transactions in “securities.” See Private Placement Memotandum, pp. ii,.
vileviti, xii-xiii, attached to ODS App. Vol, 1, Tab 5 (establishing the tiansactions are exempt
from registration). When an offering puiports to be exempt under federal Regulation D, any
allegation of impropér registration is covered exclusively by federal law and any State law
registration requirements are preempted, See Temple v. Gormian, 201 F.Supp.2d 1238, 1243-44
{8.D.Fl1a.2002) (holding that when a private placement of securities purported to be exempt
under Rule 506, “[rJegardless of whether the private placement actually complied with the
substantive requirements of Regulatiori D or Rule 506, the securities sold to Plaintiffs are federal
‘covered secuiities' because they were sold pursuant to those tules” and as a restlt registration of

such securities is not required and is preempted, Accord Lillard v. Stockton; 267 . Supp.2d 1081,

 Until 1996, both federal and state regulations governed securities offerings. The National
Securities Market Impmvement Act of 1996 ("NSMIA™) eliminated the dual system of
regulations for certain securities offerings, and prohibited states from requiring the registration of’
such securities, 15 US.C. § 77r (1997 & Supp 2001). Sectionl8 of the NSMIA, entitled
“[e]xemption from State regulation of securities offerings,” provides that no law, rule or
administrative action of any State shall directly or indirectly apply fo a security that is a “covered -
security”, See Temple and Lillard cited herein,
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1116 (N.D.Okla.2003). The Department’s summary judgment request related to CEMP LLC
should properly be denied.

G, THE GEARY RESPONDENTS SHOULD NOT BE DISCIPLINED
PURSUANT TO § 1-411 AS THE ODS IS NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY
JUDGMENT ON ITS CLAIMS; ALTERNATIVELY, ODS HAS NOT
ESTABLISHED THE IMPOSITION QF SUCH ALLEGED SANCTIONS IS
IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE PUBLIC.

At Seetion VI of its Motion, the Department appears to seek to Impose sanctions against
Respondents Geary and Geary Securities. As set forth above, numerous disputed questions of
fact exist that pieclude summary judgment. Accordingly, the Department is not entitled to any
determination that the Geary Respondents have willfully viclated the OUSA, pursuant to 71.
Okla.Stat, § 1-411.

Additionally, ODS is required to establish that the entry of an order pursuant to 1-411 is
in the “public interest™. See § 1-411 (A), (B) and (C) holding that only if the' Administiator finds
that the order issued is “in the public interest” should an order of discipline be issued. See also
comments to. Uniform Securities Act of 2002, § 412 stating “Under 412 the administrator must
provide the denial, revocation, suspension, cancellation, withdrawal, restriction; condition er
Hmitation both is (1) in the public interest and (2) involves one of the enumerated grounds in
Section 412(d).” See Comment No. 2 to § 412 of the Uniform Secwrities Act, attached in ODS
App. Vol. 11, at Tab: 49 {p. 227). The Comments further state that “the public interest will not
requife imposition of a sanction for ¢very minor or technical violation 6f subsection (d).” /d.

At Section VII, the Department likewise seeks to impose “control” person lability
against Respondent Geary, asserting that Geary directly ot indirectly controlled Respondent
Geary Securities and “knew or should have known of the existence of the conduct.” This alleged

knowledge, along with the numerous other questions identified hérein, present material questions.
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of disputed that that prevent summary judgment. Likewise, the Deparfment must again establish
“public interest” where it is asserting that a party should be punished under Sections (A) through
(C) of 1-411, which it has failed to do. Jd.
Accordingly, siminary judgment on Sections VI dand VII seeking to impose sanctions
should be denied.
H. A CEASE AND DESIST ORDER AGAINST CEMP LLC IS NOT
APPROPRIATE,
At Section VIII, the Department seeks to have a cease and desist order entered against:
CEMP LLC on the basis of .a summary judgment request. As set forth above, such 4
determination on amotion for summary judgment is not appropriate as it denies Respondents
a right to a hearing, Additionally, numerous issues of disputed material fact exist which
preclude the entry of a cease and desist order against CEMP LLC.
Finally, by seekirig to enjoin CEMP LLC regarding any future acts, the Department
makes scienter an issue that becomes an element, and. the Department must “establish a
sufficient evidentiary predicate to show that such future violation may occur. . . [an
important. faﬁmr in this regard is the degiee of intentional wrongdoing evidence in a
defendant’s past conduct. . . a district court may consider scienter or lack of it as one of the
aggravating of mitigating factors to be taken into account . ., . ™ Aaron ¥ Secnrities
Exchiange Commission, 446 U8, 680, 701, 100 S.Ct. 1945, 1958 (1980). Here, the
Departifient has made absolitely ne showing régarding any scienter with regard to. CEMP

LLC. Asaresult, its request must be denied.
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V. CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing discussion of disputed material facts, arguments
and auvthorities, the Geary Respondents fespectfully request that the Hearing Officer issue an
Order denying the Department’s Motion for partial Summary Decision. Alternatively, the
Geary Respondents request that the Hearing Officet issuc an Order defetring consideration of

the Departmient’s Motion until all discovery is.completed in this proceeding,

Respectfully submitted,

Aoe M\Hampten, OBA No. 11851
/" Amy J.\Pieice, OBA No. 17980

CORBYN HAMPTON PLLC

One Leadership Square

211 North Robinson, Suite 1970
Qklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102
Telephone: (405)239-7055

Facsimile: (405) 702-4348

‘Email: jhampton@corbyithimpton.com
amiercc@c(}rb\fhham_pton..com
astanford@corbynhampton.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS GEARY
SECURITIES, INC,, KEITH D). GEARY, AND
CEMP, L1LC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

1 hereby certify that on February 3, 2012, a copy of the foregoing document was served
on the following by e-mail:

Mr. Bruce R, Kohl

Hearing Officer

261 Caminoe del Norte

Santa Fe, NM 87501

Bmiail; bruce.kohl09@email.com

Brenda London, Oklahoma Department of Securities
120 North Robinson, Suite 860
Oklalioma City, OK 73102; and

Melanie Hall, Director of Enforcement

Terra Shamas Bonnell, Enforcement Attorney
Oklahoma Department of Securities

120 North Robinson, Suite 860

Oklalioma City, OK 73102;

Donald A. Pape, Esq.
Donald A. Pape, P.C.
401 West Main Street, Suite 440
Norman, OK 73069;

Susan Bryarit
shryant{@bryantlawgproup.com

Hémﬁ,ﬁ/ﬂJ
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AFFIDAVIT OF KEITH ). GEARY

STATE OF OKLAHOMA ) .
COUNTY OF OKLAHOMA)} >

Keith D, Geary, being duly sworn, states as follows:

i. I make this Affidavit based on my own personal knowledge,

2. I make this Affidavit in support of the Response filed on behalf of the Geary
Respondents to the Motion for Partial Summary Decision filed by the Oklahoma Depattment of
Securities (the “Department™ in ODS Action No, 09-141 (the “ODS Action™).

3 1 have previously given a deposition in the ODS Action on March 22, 2011, Tdo
not make this Affidavit for the purpose of changing my priot testimony. Rathiér, in certain.
tespects: this Affidavit is provided to expand in a consistent manner with my prior testimony; as
well as address issues that were not covered in my deposition as conducted by the Department.

4. Most of my business career has been spent providing investment services and
products to Oklahoma banks. 1 have over 20 years’ experience in analyzing, buying and selling
collateratized mortgage obligations (“CMOs™). One of the types of investinent products that my
bank eustomers [including Bank of Union (“BOU”)] purchased through Capital West (later
renamed “Geary Securities™) prior to April 30, 2009, was private label collateralized mottgage
obligations. (“PL-CMOs™). On or about Apiil 30, 2009, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC™) issued its Financial Institution Letter No. 20-2009 {the “FIL”). The FIL
essentially advised financial institutions that the FDIC was directing its exatiners to downgrade
any PL-CMOs held by a bank, effective May 1, 2009, notwithstanding the fact that the vast
majority of the PL-CMOs held by my bank customers were outperforiing expectations,

i
EXHIBIT 1




5. Because a significant portion of my customers are banks, I have always closely-
monitored developments in the banking industry and immediately became aware of the FIL, I
Geary realized the impact of the FDIC’s decision would be. that banks holding PL-CMOs —

“including some of my elients like BOU and others — would likely decide to divest themselves of
the PL-CMOs fo avoid the regulatory backlash, notwithstanding: their performance. T also
recognized the banks looking to sell their PL-CMOs would be faced with a very disrupted, seller-
unfriendly market {hat would mainly consist of “scavenger buyers” looking for deep discounts.
and bargains. In the cowrse of analyzing these developinenits, T developed a concept that T
believed could satisty my clients” need to sell the PL-CMOs at ressonable, fair prices and
provide the same clients with the opportunity to acquire a replacement investment grade security
for their 'poﬁfoﬁ_os'—. My ides later became known as the “CEMP Concept.,” “CEMP” stands for
“credit enhanced mortgage pool.”

6. The CEMP concept was not unheard of, In fact, today the same basic concept is
being employed in the market by, among others, the: FDIC (by resecuritizing morigages acquired
from -a failed bank). My CEMP Concept basically consisted of (1) purchasing a group of PL~
CMOs from one or more of my bank customers that were wanting to sell, (2) performing,
through a team of skilléd professionals, a resecuritization process whereby the collateral was
materially enhanced by the purchase and addition of & U.S. treasury strip, (3) issuarice of a
resulting new security, with a new CUSIP number and rating, and. (4) offéring the résulting new
sécm‘ity to, among others, the bank or banks that-sold their PL-CMOs. 1 belieyed that the CEMP
process could be accomplished in a way that eliminated or significantly reduced any losses
suffered by the banks in selling their PL-CMOs, while also giving our firm the opportunity 1o

realize a profit afier completion of the resecuritization process and sale of the resulting new




securities. Because of my rélationship with the banks that might sell their PL-CMOs and my
involvement 1in assisting the banks whien they purchased those securities, I was well aware of
what the banks had paid and what they needed to receive-in sale proceeds to avoid or minimize
losses on the sale of PL-CMOs. Because I valued and wanted to maintain and continte my’
business relationship with those bank customers, I was highly motivated to accomplishi the
transaction in a way that met the banks® need to (a) divest the PL-CMOs, and (b) avoid of
minimize any losses resulting from divestiture, As of May 2009, 1 anticipated the epportunity
for CEMP projects would exist as long as the PL-CMO market remained disrupted in terms of
price and value.

7. BOU was one of the banks that had purchased PL-CMOs prior to April 30, 2010,
dnd was interested in selling them after issuance of the FIL. It appeared that our CEMP Concept
met BOU’s need to divest and possibly its need for a replacement investment product. In
Septeimber 2009, the CEMP transaction was closed, including purchase of the iesulting CEMP
securities by BOU (the A-1 class) and its majority sharcholder, Timothy Headington (the A-1
class).

8. At no time did I make any material mistepresentations or omit to state any
material facts to BOU in connection with the CEMP A-1 product.

9. At no time did 1 make any material misteprésentations of omit to state any
material facts to BOU concerning the existence or absence of another A-1 buyer to induce BOU
to purchase the A-1. When [ told BOU T was looking for buyers, that statement was true becatise
1 was actively looking for buyers, When I'told BOU I felt 1 had someone interested in buying the
A-1, that statenient was tine because, based on twhat I knew and believed in good faith at that

point in time; I believed the prospect or prospects were intétested in the A-1.




10. At no time did T make any material misrepresentations or omit to sfale any
material facts to BOU in connection with the rating of the A-1 product. 1 did not see a rating
letter until after closing. Prior to that time, I'do not believe that any of the professionals we were
working with (Braver Stearn, DBRS, Katten Muchin) had differentiated with me between a AAA
tating as to principal and interest, or principal only; rather, 1 heard on multiple occasions the
professionals indicate that the A-1 would be “AAA rated.” At no time did I tell, indicate or
attempt fo create the impression on anyone's behalf that the A-1 would be AAA rated as to
prineipal and interest. Moreover, no ong ever asked me that question prior fo closing of the

CEMP 09-1 transaction:

11. At no time did T make any material misrepresentations or omit to state any

material facts to Mr, Headington concerning how long he would have to hold the A2,

12. At no time did T make any material misrepresentations or omit to state -any

material facts to BOU or Mr. Headington concerning their ability to sell the A-1 orthe A-2 ata

profit, I readily acknowledge that I did express my honest, good faith opinion, based on what I

knew and believed at the time, that an owner of the A-1 or A2 should be able to sell either:

product for more than they paid. After Mr. Headington purchased the A-2 I did attempt to find a

subsequent purchaser, but was not successful. My efforts included trying to put together a
CEMP 09-2 tiansaction that would have involved buying the A-1 from BOU and the A-2 from
i, Headington, Unfortunately that transaction never closed.

13, At no time did I make any material misrepresentations of omit to State any
material facts to Mr. Headington that I would purchase the A-Z from him if he were unable to
sell it within 90 days of his purchase. Tn the coursé of my deposition in the ODS Action fat page

176), T explained that I had told John Shelley, before Mr. Headington bought the A-2, that
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would gladly buy the: A-2 instead of Mr. Headington if I had the money to make that purchase, 1
also told Mr. Shelley at the same time that if My, Headington would loan me the money needed

to purchase the A-2, I'would buy-if myself. I raised this possibility because I was aware that Mr.

Headington had previously loaned money or arranged for funding for Mr, Shelley and Mr. Braun.

to invest in one or more PL-CMOs. None of these conversations I had with Mr. Shelley were.
any attempt to persuade Mr. Headington to purchase the A-2; rather, they were attempts by me to
purchase the A-2 initially instead of Mr. Headington. After closing, Mr. Shelley asked me to
sigh a document éntiﬂed “Guaranty Agreemént.” As I explained in my deposition (at page 186),
M. Shielley told me that he needed something for his file to confirm that T had been willing to
borrow money from Mr. Headington to buy the A-2, even though that did not happen. I signed
the documest to satisfy Mr. Shelley’s request, even though my view then and now is that the
document has no meaning and certainly did not represent or memorialize any agreement between
Mr, Headington and myself.

14, 1 .am aware thaf, prior to Mr. Headington’s decision to putchase the A-2, Michael
Shelley (a broker with our firm and the son of BOU Chairman John Shelley) had discussions
with Chtis Martin (one of Mz, Headington’s business associates) concerning the CEMP Concept
and product. 1 do not know the details of what was discussed befween Mr. Shelley and Mr.
Martin, nor do I know what, if anythinig, was relayed by Mr: Martin to Mr. Headiiigton. Michgel
Shelley was paid a $50,000.00 commission attributable to. Mr. Headingten’s purchase of the A-2.

15, To the best of my current knowledge and information, BOU and M, Headingfon
still own the A-1 and A-2 CEMP securities. To the extent possible; I monitor the performance of
both securities through publicly-available sources. It appears the A-1 has performed in a-positive

manner and as expected since the date purchased by BOU. For example, the A-1 continues {o
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yield at greater than 4% (while Bank Fed Funds are 0 to 0.25%). It appears the A-2 has.
experienced a significant appréciation in value. For example, Mi, Headington paid 65 for the A-
2 in September 2009. At that time, the cost of the 10 year Treasury stiip (maturity 8/15/19) was
69.342. As of Jamuary 31, 2012, the value of the sanie 10 year Treasury strip is 89,93, an
increase of 24.93 points. This equates to an increase over the course of just miore than 2 years.
from $13 million to $17.986 million.

16. The Department’s Motion references an ¢-miail dated September 25, 2009 from
me to J . McKean, Jr. and suggests that my statements to Di. McKeat were misleading. That is
not the cdse. Before sending the subjeet ¢-mail to Dr, McKean at 8:31 p.m., I had been advised
(at 2:04 p.m.) the same day by Michael Shelley that Mr, Headington would be purchasing the A-
2. As aresult, in my mind the first CEMP project was “done.” My good faith belief at the time
was that the CEMP products would be well received by dealers in the market as they became
aware of a suecessful closing and, based on discussions I had. with dealers to that point, T fully
expected the CEMP bonds to sell at par in the marketplace:

17.  The Department’s Motion accuses Geary Securities of charging an excéssive
markup on a PL-CMO transaction that was unrelated to CEMP. 1 '1tespectfully disagree forthe
following reasons,

a. My under‘sia’ndiﬁg is that there is no hard-and-fast “5% markup rule,” but, rather; a
rule that prohibits excessive markups and a policy concerning 5%. It is my further
understanding that each transaction is évaluated o its own facts and circumstaices to
determine whether a particular markup is or is not excessive, Based: on the
background, faéts. and circumstances, 1 do not believe the subject markup to be

£xcessive,




b. T have over 25 years” experienice related to CMOs, on behalf of financial institution

custorners and accredited investors that are typically related or affiliated in some
marinér with the institotional customer. My CMO business has always. involved a
significant amount of research and analysis, which means that I have spent the
majority of my time performing those tasks. From mid-2009 forward, the CMO
market has been in # significantly distupted state, resulting in widespiead uncertainty
concerning pricing and other issues. As a result, the amount of time and effort
devoted to the CMO business on behalf of our customers has increased, while the
number of CMO trades has decreased.

Since May 2009 we have also seen that the uneertairities in this market create wide-
ranging fluctuations and variations in views concerning the values and resulting
pricing for CMOs, Rather than blindly trust and follow the views of others
{particularly those whose views have been demonstrated as faulty), T spend a fair
amoufit of time examining and analyzing the underlying data to reach my own view
concerning the anticipated performance and res‘ulting value of any particular CMO,
While I do not ¢claim to be perfect, T can say that my CMO eustomers have been very
pleased with the results of their CMO activity over'the past couple of years.

On the issue of the level of markups on our CMO trades, I recognize the FINRA 5%
policy is a policy -- niot a tule. The policy includes making inquiry and independently
defermining whether any given markup is of is not excessive, fair or reasonable. 1
respectfully submit that, viewing the facts, circumstances and factors as a whole, the
markup charged for the iransaction the Depaitiment identifies in its Motion was fair,.

reasonable-and not excessive,
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The type of security invelved (CMOs) necessarily requires the devotion of a greater

amount of titne and effort and a higher level of analysis and scrutiny to détermine

~ whether a particular CMO represents a worthwhile opportunity that fits a particular

customer’s needs at a particular point in time. As mentioned above, CMOs of the
type, characteristics and quality desired by our customers have not been readily
available in the market for some time now. As a result, we have to spend more time
and effort identifying and then analyzing CMO prospects, as well ds staying in
contact with potential sources of the desired CMO products. As discussed, CMO:
pricing has been and continues to be quite volatile, such that more time and analysis
is required to best serve our customers’ needs and objectives. We do not have a set or
predetermined markup percentage. Rather, T look at each transaction and determine
based on my experience and involvement what I believe to be a fair, reasonable and
appropriate markup for that transaction. This line: of business represents the vast
majority of my work., Consequently, I spend the majority of my time in this-avea and
additionally ¢ompensate and rely on Chad Goodman to support this business. through
regular monthly analysis, feview and repotting, as well as CMO-specific review and

analysis as we attempt to thoroughly examine a CMO prospeet from all sides,

realizing that our window of opportunity miay be quite limited depending on market

conditions and other factors: that often come into play. Of course, we do the. same

level of work regardless of whether a trade is ultimately accomplished for any given
CMQ that we examine, discuss with other brokers and show to our customer. For all

of these reasons, it is my opinion, based on my experience, training, skill and




understanding of the FINRA policy, that the markup at issue was fair-and reasonable,
not excessive.
f, FINRA addressed the issué of PL-CMO markups charged by Geary Securities as part

of its. 2011 examination of the firm. In response to the FINRA exit interview, Geary

Securities provided detailed explanation and support for the markups it charged on.

PL-CMO transactions, FINRA has not taken any action against Geary Securities ot

otherwise pursued the issue.
18, The Department’s Motion references discussions I had with Mesirow in
December 2009 coneerning & PL-CMO 1 was interested in purchasing for a secend CEMP

offering. The Departinent attemipts to acense me of wroiigdoing in conmection with my offer to

purchase a bond from Mesirow in connection with the attempted second CEMP closing in

December 2009, As I explained in my deposition (at page 206), Geary Securities agreed to

purchase a bond from Mesirow for an agreed price on an agreed settlement date, which was

subsequently extended by agreement. Mesitow was told and understood the intended use of the:

bond in connection with the anticipated second CEMP closing. When it became necessary to

delay the second CEMP closing, Mesirow was advised and the settlement date of the bond
‘purchase was revised to coincide with the tevised closing date. When it became apparent that

the second CEMP closing would not occur due to outside forces beyond our control, Geary

Securities notifled Mesiiow that it 'was nécessary to bredk the trade becauise the second CEMP
offering was not ready to close. T later went back to Mesirow and offered to buy the same bond
for a customer at a higher price, Mesirow agreed and the salé and purchase of the bond occuired
to everyone’s satisfaction. At no time 1.did I mislead Mesirow, misrepresent materfal facts; omit

to state thaferial facts or deal with Mesirow in an unethical manner,




19. It is my understanding that discovery is ongoing and not complete in this matter,

In order to i’ui‘ly address the issues raised by the Department’s Motion, it is necessary to conduct
the depositioris of the Department’s expert witness (M. Paulukaitis) and certain fact witnesses

depending on the Hearing Officer’s rulings on pending preclusion motions. The fact witnesses
to be deposed include, but are not necessarily limited to, Timothy Headington, Chris Martin

Michael Shelley, and the six Bank of Union directors.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NOT.

KEITH D, GEARY \

Subscribed and swomn to before me this 3rd day of February, 2012,
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Notary Public
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